
                                                             CCIITTYY  OOFF  BBUURRLLIINNGGTTOONN  
         

   Administration Department 
                                                                                                      300 N. Pine Street, Burlington, WI, 53105 

                                                                                                           (262) 342-1161 – (262) 763-3474 fax 
         www.burlington-wi.gov 

 
Minutes 

City of Burlington Plan Commission 
June 9, 2020, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 

Mayor Jeannie Hefty called the Plan Commission meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. through Zoom 
Meetings. Roll call: Aldermen Tom Preusker and Bob Grandi; Commissioners Chad Redman; Andy 
Tully; John Ekes; and Art Gardner were present. Also in attendance, Carina Walters, City 
Administrator; Megan Watkins, Assistant City Administrator/Zoning Administrator; Attorney John 
Bjelajac; Greg Governatori, Kapur & Associates; and Tanya Fonseca, Graef. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Commissioner Redman moved, and Alderman Preusker seconded to approve the minutes of May 12, 
2020.  
 
LETTERS & COMMUNICATIONS 
None 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS  
None 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
A. Consideration to recommend approval to the Common Council of a Rezone Map 

Amendment application from Craig Faust for property located at 965 S. Pine Street to 
rezone the property from Rd-2/PUD, Two-Family Residential District with a Planned Unit 
Development to Rm-2, Multi-Family Residential District, subject to Graef’s memorandum to 
the Plan Commission.  

 
 Mayor Hefty opened this item for discussion. 

 
 Tanya Fonseca, Graef, explained the existing zoning (Rd-2/PUD) does not allow for multi-

family use, thus Rm-2 is the most appropriate zoning for this development.  
 
 Alderman Preusker asked what type of material on the exterior of the building the owner is 

using, what type of appliances, and what is the dollar amount expected for rent. Ryan 
Cardinal, Cardinal Engineering, stated there were architectural renderings submitted showing 
the lower part being cobblestone veneer, aluminum coverings, and vinyl siding. The 
apartments will have similar design and style as the two 8-unit buildings at Spring Brook 
Apartments. The rent is between $1,250 and $1,350. Craig Faust, owner, stated the interior 
will have high-end appliances and countertops to gear towards the higher market rate.  

 



Plan Commission Minutes June 9, 2020 

Page 2 of 4 

 
 Alderman Grandi asked for confirmation that a 2-car garage was available for each unit. Mr. 

Faust replied there is a 1-car garage and an extra parking space for each unit. 
 

  There were no further comments. 
 

Commissioner Redman moved, and Commissioner Tully seconded to approve the rezone.  
 
All were in favor and the motion carried. 

 
 

B. Consideration to approve a Site Plan application from Craig Faust for property located at 
965 S. Pine Street to construct a 12-unit apartment building, subject to Graef’s and Kapur & 
Associates’ memorandums to the Plan Commission.  

 
 Mayor Hefty opened this item for discussion. 

 
 Ms. Fonseca explained the plans meet all codes, including parking. Ms. Fonseca stated the 

memorandum says 2-car garage, but should be two parking spaces total. Alderman Grandi 
questioned Kapur & Associates regarding the water issues that the residents on Hidden Creek 
Lane have, and wanted to confirm there are no issues here. Greg Governatori, Kapur & 
Associates, responded the storm water goes to the rear of Hidden Creek, so there will be no 
concerns of water issues. 

 
  There were no further comments. 
 

Commissioner Redman moved, and Alderman Grandi seconded to approve the Site Plan.  
 
All were in favor and the motion carried. 
 
 
C. Public Hearing to hear public comments regarding a Conditional Use application from 

George Dertis for property located at 940 Milwaukee Avenue, to allow for automobile sales 
(not a repair shop). 

 
 Mayor Hefty opened the Public Hearing at 6:40 p.m. 

 
 There were no comments. 
 

Alderman Grandi moved, and Commissioner Ekes seconded to close the Public Hearing at 6:43 p.m.  
 
All were in favor and the motion carried. 
 
 
D. Consideration to approve a Conditional Use and Site Plan application from George Dertis 

for property located at 940 Milwaukee Avenue to allow for a used car dealership (not a 
repair shop), subject to Graef’s and Kapur & Associates’ memorandums to the Plan 
Commission.  



Plan Commission Minutes June 9, 2020 

Page 3 of 4 

 
 Mayor Hefty opened this item for discussion. 

 
 Ms. Fonseca explained this property is the former Pizza Hut, and the applicant would like to 

use this as a used car dealership, which requires a Conditional Use. There is a right-of-way 
going through the front portion of the property. The proposed number of cars displayed may 
not be realistic. The requirements and zoning meet the ordinance.  

 
 Commissioner Gardner commented it is great to re-purpose the use instead of leaving it 

vacant. Commissioner Redman asked for more information regarding the right-of-way. 
Attorney John Bjelajac explained the Department of Transportation does not own the road 
anymore. The owner can use the right-of-way, but the City can retrieve it at any time if 
needed in the future. Megan Watkins, Assistant City Administrator/Zoning Administrator, 
displayed a map of the front area used for 12 vehicles next to Milwaukee Avenue. George 
Dertis, applicant, stated the vehicles can be parked close together unlike a normal parking lot. 
Ms. Watkins commented the stalls are required to be 9 feet wide by 20 feet long, and that can 
determine how many vehicles will fit.  

 
 Commissioner Tully questioned what the exterior of the building and landscape plans are. Mr. 

Dertis answered the owner will be repaving the lot and landscaping. The applicant will paint 
the exterior of the building. Alderman Grandi asked what the plans are for the drop off in the 
rear of the property. Jeff Erickson, owner’s representative, replied in the back will be 
greenspace, landscaping, and large retaining walls. Mr. Erickson further replied between the 
lots will be cleaned up and meet all requirements. Commissioner Ekes commented the plans 
submitted is a sketch, and would like to see more details. Ms. Fonseca responded the applicant 
proposes to use the existing lighting, and the Site Plan remains the same, so more details are 
not necessary.  

 
 Alderman Grandi was curious if the original right-of-way was not used for widening the road, 

than what was if for. Mr. Governatori answered he was not sure, but the City has control of 
the right-of-way, and the applicant can use it if the City so chooses. 

 
 The Commissioners are concerned if the Conditional Use is approved the owner might not 

repair the lot as discussed. Ms. Watkins stated the Occupancy Permit could include the 
parking lot repairs, landscaping, or other concerns. Attorney John Bjelajac reminded the 
Commissioners a Conditional Use can have restrictions added, since a denial is based on 
evidence, facts, information, and not personal preferences. Attorney John Bjelajac stated the 
Conditional Use will have legal documentation requiring any items mentioned to be 
completed, and with specific timelines. 

 
 Carina Walters, City Administrator, recommended Mr. Erickson and Mr. Dertis give timelines 

for a new lot and a better design of vegetation. Mr. Erickson stated the landscape plan will be 
submitted to staff before the end of June. After the landscape is completed, the lot will take 
one week. Mr. Dertis stated the re-painting of the building takes about one month to complete.   

 
  There were no further comments. 
 
 



Plan Commission Minutes June 9, 2020 

Page 4 of 4 

 
Commissioner Tully moved to approve the Conditional Use and Site Plan on the following conditions: 
repair of the parking lot done by 3rd week of July, landscape done by August 1, 2020, and the building 
improvements by Mr. Dertis finished by the end of August. Attorney John Bjelajac stated the 
Conditional Use could include that the City can take back the right-of-way if deemed upon a 30-day 
notice. 
 
Commissioner Tully amended, and Commissioner Redman seconded to approve the Conditional Use 
and Site Plan to add the following conditions: the Conditional Use include the conditions from Graef’s 
and Kapur & Associates’ memorandums, and allow the City to take back the right-of-way if deemed 
necessary upon a 30-day notice. 
 
All were in favor and the motion carried. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 

Alderman Preusker moved, and Commissioner Gardner seconded to adjourn the meeting at 7:28 p.m.   
 
All were in favor and the motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
Recording Secretary 
Kristine Anderson 
Administrative Assistant 


